In the Supreme Court of Mississippi

No. 2008-CP-01464

George Dunbar Prewitt, Jr., Appellant

V.

P. Scott Phillips, Appellee

Brief of Appellant

Certificate of Interested Persons

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed

persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These

representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court

and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible

disqualification or recusal.

1. George Dunbar Prewitt, Jr.,.

2. All judges who have been appointed to vacancies in, or on, the Circuit

Courts, Chancery Courts, and Supreme Court of Mississippi.

George Dunbar Prewitt, Jr.

Statement of the Case

This case began on or about April 4, 2006 when defendant/appellee P. Scott Phillips, as the attorney for David Howell Lee, entered docket sheets, in the Washington County Circuit Court case of <u>Prewitt v. Lee</u>, No. 2003-223, from a void judgment in the U.S. District Court in Greenville,

Mississippi. Along with the irrelevant docket sheets from the void judgment, Phillips alleged that U.S. District Court "has assessed sanctions or attorney's fees against Plaintiff <u>for his behavior</u>", and that the plaintiff/appellant George Dunbar Prewitt, Jr., had been "less than candid" in a motion for leave to amend the <u>Prewitt v. Lee</u> complaint.

The motion for leave to amend the complaint was based on the filing of the federal court documents by Phillips, and requested that the appellant be permitted to add claims against Phillips. As one statute of limitations deadline approached without any response from the trial court on the motion for leave to amend, the appellant filed the 2007 action against Phillips, which is the subject of this appeal, as an independent complaint.

Following an adverse judgment in the trial court, the appellant appealed the trial court's judgment, in the related case of <u>Prewitt v. Lee</u>, to this court where the appeal was summarily dismissed by the court clerk pursuant to Rule 2, Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure (MRAP). The clerk's summary disposition of the appeal, in <u>Prewitt v. Lee</u>, No. 2007-TS-02096, was affirmed by this court on January 16, 2008.

On September 4, 2007, Phillips filed a Motion to Dismiss and subsequently scheduled an October 2, 2007 hearing on his Motion to

Dismiss the case of <u>Prewitt v. Phillips</u>. The trial court took the case under advisement after the October 2, 2007 hearing, and issued a decision that was entered 281 days later on July 9, 2008.

The July 9, 2008 judgment, of the trial court, rested on the following bases; (a) the only claim related to defamation, (b) the defamation claim failed to state a cause of action because the judicial privilege bars all claims for defamation (c) that the relevance of allegations in pleadings are legal issues to be resolved by a judge rather than by a jury, and (d) that the documents from the federal court judgment "were relevant to Defendant's request for sanctions" "in the matter of <u>George Dunbar Prewitt v. David Lee</u>, No. <u>2003-233CI</u>. This appeal followed.

Summary of the Argument

The trial court erred, with respect to granting the 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. Specifically, the trial court judge erred by finding that the federal court documents were relevant to the Lee's motion for sanctions in <u>Prewitt v. Lee</u>, No. <u>CI2003-223</u> without addressing the subject matter of <u>Prewitt v. Lee</u>, No. <u>CI2003-223</u>, i.e., whether a medical contract, drawn up by Lee, had established a price for services that was binding on both parties. If a contract lacks a stated price, that contract is void in Mississippi. However,

the existence, or not, of a contract is a jury question in Mississippi, and the trial judge should not have granted the motion to dismiss in Prewitt v. Lee; Thus, in this case, the trial judge, having granted Lee's motion to dismiss after failing to present the question of valid contract formation, vel non, to a jury in Prewitt v. Lee, could not re-visit the subject matter in Prewitt v. Lee without raising the bona fides of the motion to dismiss which was granted in Prewitt v. Lee. Therefore, the trial judge was trapped between the legal equivalence of Scylla and Charybdis or, as we say in the South, between a rock and a hard place. Additionally, because the subject matter in Prewitt v. Lee was outside of the pleadings in Prewitt v. Phillips, the trial court was obligated (a) to provide notice to the parties that it intended to convert the 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment, (b) to provide ample time for discovery, and (c) to at least provide the 10 days in Rule 56, for evidentiary submissions, before taking the case under advisement as the trial court did on October 2, 2007 less than 6 months after the filing of the complaint.

A void judgment, whether from a foreign jurisdiction or not, cannot be relevant to any state judicial proceeding in Mississippi. The trial judge erred by failing to determine if the foreign judgment was void (a) due to a

lack of subject matter and personal jurisdiction or void (b)due to actions taken by federal judges to conceal Voting Rights Act violations from which they benefitted while the federal judges were Mississippi state officials in contravention of due process. There is also a question, under Section 13 of the Mississippi Constitution, whether the common law judicial privilege was abolished by Section 13 of the Mississippi Constitution.

The trial judge erred in concluding that the complaint, in <u>Prewitt v.</u> <u>Phillips</u>, only alleged a defamation claim. In Mississippi, a "conspiracy is a combination of persons for the purpose of accomplishing an unlawful purpose or a lawful purpose unlawfully." <u>Gallagher Bassett Servs., Inc. v.</u> <u>Jeffcoat</u>, 887 So.2d 777, ¶37 (Miss. 2004). The complaint, in paragraphs 7-26, charged a conspiracy.

The trial judge erred by granting the motion to dismiss on a mixed question of law and fact. In Mississippi, the existence of a privilege, or not, is a mixed question of law and fact, and Section 31 of the Mississippi Constitution guarantees that the facts shall be determined by a jury.

The trial judge erred in concluding that accusing an attorney of being "less than candid" is merely zealous advocacy. A lack of honesty, on the part of an attorney, is an invitation for disciplinary action by the Mississippi Bar and this court. The defendant should have been required to provide evidence of my lack of honesty, or be sanctioned when no proof of dishonesty was forthcoming.

<u>Argument</u>

The trial judge, on pages 2-4 of her order granting appellee Phillips' motion to dismiss, determined that appellant Prewitt's complaint failed to state a cause of action because the documents at issue "were relevant to Defendant's request for sanctions" in <u>Prewitt v. Lee</u>, No. <u>CI2003-223</u>. On its face, therefore, the trial judge's order referred to matters outside the pleadings in this case under review, i.e. <u>Prewitt v. Phillips</u>, No. <u>CI2007-73</u>, and therefore required the trial judge to announce, to the parties, that she was converting the 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment and to provide 10 days to the non-moving party for the provision of evidence to oppose the motion for summary judgment. <u>Rein v.</u> <u>Benchmark Constr. Co.</u>, 865 So. 2d 1134, ¶24 (Miss. 2004); <u>Gulledge v.</u> Shaw, 880 So. 2d 288, (¶7) (Miss. 2004).

The trial judge's order also mis-applied the law on when the judicial privilege is applicable. Having correctly stated the applicable law, by citing <u>McCorkle v. McCorkle</u>, 811 So.2d 258, ¶18 (Miss. App. 2001), the trial

judge erroneously concluded that the benchmark, for determining whether the judicial privilege applied to this case, was whether the foreign jurisdiction documents "were relevant to Defendant's request for sanctions". However, the McCorkle standard is not whether the documents at issue related to the defendant's request for sanctions, but whether the documents were "relevant to the subject matter of the action" in Prewitt v. Lee. The gist of Prewitt v. Lee was a dispute over whether the contract stated a definite price. Under Rule 401, Mississippi Rules of Evidence (MRE), "Relevant Evidence" is defined as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Thus, the defendant's foreign jurisdiction's documents were irrelevant, and the judicial privilege inapplicable, unless the documents would assist in resolving whether a definite price was stated in the contract at issue in Prewitt v. Lee, i.e., Rotenberry v. Hooker, 864 So. 2d 266, ¶13. (Miss. 2003); (Price is an essential term that must be stated with specificity. ... The contract fails when the price has not been stated with specificity .") (emphasis added). Furthermore, because the central issue in Prewitt v. Lee was contract formation, the trial judge should

have allowed a jury to pass judgment on that issue because the "existence of a contract is a question of fact that is to be determined by a jury" <u>Hunt v. Coker</u>, 741 So. 2d 1011, 1014 (¶6) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (**ćiting** 75A Am. Jur. 2d Trial § 791 (1991) (emphasis added). If the contract is determined to be ambiguous, then the question of the meaning of its terms usually should be submitted to a jury: <u>Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.</u>,725 So. 2d 779, ¶5 (Miss. 1998).

The trial judge erred in failing to determine if the foreign judgment was void, as alleged in the complaint. As alleged in paragraph 27 of the complaint, a judgment is void if the rendering court lacked jurisdiction of the subject matter, or of the parties, <u>or otherwise acted in a manner inconsistent with due process of law</u>. Wright & Miller, <u>Federal Practice and Procedure</u>: Civil § 2862 (1973); <u>Miss, Dep't of Human Servs. v.</u> <u>Shelby</u>, 802 So.2d 89, ¶28 (Miss. 2001). Paragraph 30 of the complaint alleged that void decisions are invalid ab initio, cannot be given recognition by a Mississippi Court, and can be attacked anytime, whether collaterally or directly. <u>See generally, Duvall v. Duvall</u>, 224 Miss. 546, 552, 80 So. 2d 752, 754 (1955). Although there is Mississippi precedent which establishes that re-litigation of jurisdictional issues is not permitted, i.e.,

Global Oceanic Enterprises, Inc. and Richard Coppola v. Wayne Hynum, No. 2002-CA-00471-SCT, ¶18 (Miss. 2003), the U.S. Supreme Court, in Ward v. Village of Monroeville, 409 U.S. 57, 61-62 (1972), wrote that even if an impartial adjudication is offered at the appellate level, a litigant is entitled to "a neutral and detached judge in the first instance." Thus, if there was a failure of the U.S. District Court to provide impartial judges at the trial court level, that due process defect cannot be cured by a fair appellate procedure and therefore no re-litigation of settled issues can be said to take place if the initial court hearing took place before biased judges. Therefore, the trial court judge erred in not ascertaining whether the federal court judges were partial jurists who acted in a manner inconsistent with due process.

The trial judge erred in failing to consider whether Section 13 of the Mississippi Constitution abrogated the common law judicial privilege and required the submission of judicial privilege to a jury. Section 13 provides that "The freedom of speech and of the press shall be held sacred; and in all prosecutions for libel the truth may be given in evidence, and the jury shall determine the law and the facts under the direction of the court; and if it shall appear to the jury that the matter charged as libelous is true, and

was published with good motives and for justifiable ends, the party shall be acquitted." This court has written that "Those principles of the common law which are unsuited to our conditions, or <u>repugnant to the spirit of our</u> <u>institutions</u>, are not in force in this state. Only such rules of the common law as are adapted to our institutions and circumstances and not repealed by the Legislature or varied by usage are in force." <u>Planters' Oil Mill v.</u> <u>Yazoo & M.V.R. Co.</u>, 153 Miss. 712, 717, 121 So. 138, 140 (1929), cited in <u>Clark v. Luvel Dairy Prods.</u>, Inc., 731 So. 2d 1098, ¶20 (Miss. 1998). It appears that the common law judicial privilege may be repugnant to the express provision in Section 13 of the Mississippi Constitution.

The trial judge erred in concluding that the complaint, in <u>Prewitt v.</u> <u>Phillips</u>, only alleged a defamation claim. In Mississippi, a "conspiracy is a combination of persons for the purpose of accomplishing an unlawful purpose or a lawful purpose unlawfully." <u>Gallagher Bassett Servs., Inc. v.</u> <u>Jeffcoat</u>, 887 So.2d 777, ¶37 (Miss. 2004). The complaint, in paragraphs 7-26, plainly charged a conspiracy by federal court officials to subvert the provisions of the Voting Rights Act, in an effort to construct an unlawful, appointment-and-retention judiciary system in Mississippi, and this unlawful, partially-appointed judiciary began with the repeal, in Chapter

362, Mississippi Laws of 1973, of special election provisions, in Section 3312 of the Mississippi Code of 1942, which were used to fill vacancies in circuit and chancery courts, as well as vacancies in district attorney offices. The special elections used to fill vacancies on the Mississippi Supreme Court, in Section 3316 of the Mississippi Code of 1942, appeared to have been unlawfully altered in the the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. without there being a contemporaneous preclearance of the altered provisions. Yet, some of the federal judges who should have recused themselves from deciding the issues relating to the special election provisions in Section 3312, i.e., Federal Judge Glen Davidson, remained part of the 3-judge panel in Prewitt v. Moore, 840 F. Supp. 428, (1993), which falsely claimed (a) that Section 3312 had never been used for special elections in judicial elections and (b) had even been repealed, by implication, in 1935. Yet, Federal Judge L.T. Senter won a 1968 special election, to fill a vacancy in the 1st Circuit Court District of Mississippi, that was held expressly pursuant to Section 3312 and, as noted above, the Mississippi Legislature, in March of 1973, expressly removed the special election provisions from Section 3312. The trial judge should have permitted a jury to determine if federal judges conspired to deprive me of

my right to practice law in the federal courts to prevent me from pursuing Voting Rights issues, relating to Section 3312 and 3316 of the Mississippi Code of 1942, which could have raised legal impediments to the de facto, appointment-and-retention judiciary system now operating in Mississippi.

The trial judge erred by granting the motion to dismiss on a mixed question of law and fact. In Mississippi, the existence and application of a privilege, or not, is a mixed question of law and fact. <u>Hewes v. Langston</u>, 853 So. 2d 1237, ¶13 (Miss. 2003). Section 31 of the Mississippi Constitution guarantees that factual issues shall be determined by a jury.

The trial judge erred in concluding that accusing an attorney of being "less than candid" is merely zealous advocacy. A lack of honesty, on the part of an attorney before a court, is an invitation for disciplinary action by the Mississippi Bar and this court because of Rule 3.3, Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct. Appellee Phillips should have been required to provide evidence of my lack of honesty, or to be sanctioned when no proof of my lack of candor with the trial court was forthcoming.

Conclusion

Appellant Prewitt requests that this court reverse the judgment of the trial court on the issues raised above.