IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CP-01464-SCT

GEORGE DUNBAR PREWITT

APPELLANT

VS.

P. SCOTT PHILLIPS

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

P. Scott Phillips, Pro Se Mississippi Bar No. CAMPBELL DeLONG, LLP 923 Washington Avenue Post Office Box 1856 Greenville, Mississippi 38702-1856

Telephone: (662) 335-6011 Facsimile: (662) 334-6407

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CP-01464-SCT

GEORGE DUNBAR PREWITT

APPELLANT

VS.

P. SCOTT PHILLIPS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Because Appellant's Statement of the Issues unnecessarily includes irrelevant and inappropriate issues to be considered, the Appellee asserts that the following issues more accurately reflect the matters to be decided:

(1) Whether the trial court erred in finding that the Complaint failed to state a cause of action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

What is a very simple issue has been turned into a confusing quagmire of legal issues by Appellant ("Prewitt"). This will be an attempt to crystalize into a simple statement what this case is about. On August 1, 2007, Prewitt filed his Amended Complaint alleging to have been defamed by statements made by Appellee ("Phillips"), an attorney licensed in the State of Mississippi, in the course of Phillips' defense of Dr. David Lee in the civil action *George Dunbar Prewitt v. David Howell Lee*, pending in the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi, civil action no. 2003-233. Specifically, Prewitt claims to have been defamed as a result of Phillips publishing docket sheets from civil actions in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi wherein Prewitt was assessed certain sanctions and attorney's fees against him. These docket sheets were attached in support of Dr. Lee's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, praying that Prewitt's

¹Prewitt, an attorney licensed in Mississippi, filed his original Complaint on or about April 4, 2007, but filed and served Phillips with the Amended Complaint.

²The trial judge in the *Prewitt v. Lee* litigation was Honorable Margaret Carey-McCray, the same trial judge in the litigation from which this appeal is taken.

³These docket sheets can be found on PACER in the U.S. District Court, Northern District of Mississippi, Case Nos. 4:96-mc-00001-MPM (Dk. #1, 27), 4:94-cv-00094-NBB (Dk. #82), and 4:94-cv-00010-NBB (Dk. #34)

complaint be dismissed on the grounds that Prewitt violated MISS. R. CIV. P. 11 and the Lawyer's Creed.⁴ In the underlying action, Phillips filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). By Opinion and Final Order dated June 30, 2008, the trial court dismissed the underlying action. It is from this Opinion and Final Order that Prewitt appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The argument is very straightforward. The statements by Phillips which are alleged to be defamatory are (1) cloaked with immunity because they were made in a judicial proceedings, or (2) not defamatory because the statements are (a) true and/or (b) opinions.

ARGUMENT

This Court should review the trial court's grant of the Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss with a *de novo* standard of review. If there are no set of facts affording Prewitt relief, then this Court should affirm the grant of the motion. *Durham v. University of Mississippi*, 966 So.2d 832, 835 (Miss. App. 2007), citing *Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*, 926 So.2d 890, 893(¶ 4) (Miss.2006)

The majority of Prewitt's argument seems to be hinged on the premise that the trial judge erred by not adjudicating the orders from the federal judiciary as "void" and by not ruling that Phillips' use of these "void" judgments was defamatory. Prewitt also seems to claim that because

⁴In the Cross -Motion for Summary Judgment filed in *Prewitt v. Lee*, Phillips asserted that Prewitt's allegations and pleadings went beyond the bounds of fundamental decency. Prewitt claimed that Dr. Lee was guilty of "conversion, grand larceny, fraud, and other civil and criminal offenses." Prewitt asserted that Dr. Lee's conduct "may permit Lee to be arrested and tried" as if Lee committed some criminal act. Finally, Prewitt claimed that Dr. Lee and his attorney (me) made "extortionate demands" on him. Phillips asserted then (and asserts now) that these comments violate Rule 11 and the Lawyer's Creed requiring an attorney's conduct be governed by standards of "fundamental decency," rather than "antagonistic or obnoxious behavior". *Mississippi Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company v. Parker*, 921 So.2d 260 (Miss. 2006), citing *In Re: Kelly*, 912 So.2d 823 (Miss. 2005). The docket sheets were attached for the purpose of providing the trial court with examples of how other courts have dealt with Prewitt.

he made a charge that the "void" judgments were the result of some "conspiracy" within the judiciary, this alone rendered the judicial privilege inapplicable. The very basis for this statement is erroneous and Prewitt cites no relevant legal authority for this proposition, except for the proposition that there is precedent which establishes that re-litigation of these matters is not permitted. *See* Brief of Appellant, pg. 12, citing *Global Oceanic Enterprises, Inc. v. Hynum*, 857 So.2d 659 (Miss. 2003) for the proposition the doctrine of *res judicata* bars this claim. Prewitt's arguments relative to the alleged "void" judgments and an alleged "conspiracy" within the judiciary are without merit.

To boil it down, Prewitt claims that he was defamed because Phillips attached the docket sheets and asserted that Prewitt was assessed sanctions and attorney's fees by the federal court "for his behavior." See Amended Complaint, ¶1. Prewitt further claims that statements made by Phillips in a court filing which opposed Prewitt's motion for leave to amend his complaint in the Prewitt v. Lee litigation (to add Phillips as a defendant for asserting the above) serve as a basis for defamation. In that filing, Phillips asserted Prewitt was "less than candid" with the court when he claimed that Dr. Lee failed to appear at a deposition after being given proper notice. Id., ¶2. In that same document, Phillips asserted that portions of Prewitt's motion were "incoherent", "nonsensical and incomprehensible." Id. Prewitt claims these statements are defamatory. Rightfully so, the trial judge concluded that the reference to the events noted on the docket sheets of the federal courts was made in the context of a motion for sanctions and was relevant to the subject matter and, thus,

⁵Prewitt faxed a Notice of Deposition on July 10, 2006, setting a deposition of Dr. Lee for July 14, 2006. No attempt had been made to schedule the deposition. In fact, Phillips was out of state both when the notice was served and when the deposition was set to be taken. On July 11, 2006, Prewitt was advised of Phillips' unavailability, yet asserted to the trial judge that Lee failed to appear. Phillips stands by his characterization of Prewitt's assertion that Lee failed to appear.

privileged. See Opinion and Final Order. As to the other statements, the Court rightfully found that the statements were made during zealous argument and also privileged. Id. The trial court was correct and the decision should be affirmed.

A. The Statements are Privileged.

That the statements by Phillips, made as counsel for a party in the course of other litigation, are privileged is one of the oldest tenets of our common law. In 1854, in addressing the privilege in an action for slander, this Court stated that "[i]n all judicial proceedings ... the parties are permitted to speak freely; and if they should ever make use of harsh expressions, they will not be liable to an action although the same words spoken on another occasion would be actionable." *Lewis v. Black*, 27 Miss. 425 (1854) citing *Kean v. M'Laughlin*, 2 Serg. & Rawle 469 (Penn.1816). "Statements made in connection with judicial proceedings, including pleadings, are, if in any way relevant to the subject matter of the action, absolutely privileged and immune from attack as defamation, even if such statements are made maliciously and with knowledge of their falsehood." *McCorkle v. McCorkle*, 811 So.2d 258 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001), citing *Gunter v. Reeves*, 198 Miss. 31, 38, 21 So.2d 468, 470 (1945) and *Hardtner v. Salloum*, 148 Miss. 346, 114 So. 621, 623-24 (1927). Clearly, the statements made were made in the context of a judicial proceedings and were, therefore, absolutely privileged.

B. Even if the Statements are Not Privileged, they are not Defamatory.

It should be noted herein that nothing Phillips stated or published in his court filings is untrue. "It should be noted that truth is an absolute defense to a defamation claim." *Fulton v. Miss. Publishers Corp.*, 498 So.2d 1215, 1217 (Miss.1986). Even if untrue, the statements are not defamatory. Phillips merely produced a copy of the docket sheets which clearly show Prewitt was

assessed sanctions and attorney's fees against him, among other sanctions. These matters are public record, free for any citizen's inspection. Additionally, the statements made by Phillips constitute opinions which are not defamatory unless they can be reasonably understood as declaring or implying a provable assertion of fact. If not, which clearly in this case the opinions cannot, the statements are not defamatory. Roussel v. Robbins, 688 So.2d 714 (Miss. 1996).

Under no set of facts could the inclusion of the docket sheets (which are public record) be considered defamatory. The remaining statements are merely opinions which are not defamatory.

CONCLUSION

This Court should bear in mind that the trial judge in the underlying matter was also the trial judge in *Prewitt v. Lee*. The trial judge heard and granted dispositive motions in both actions. Twice, the trial court read and considered all of the statements which Prewitt claims to have defamed him. Her ruling should stand and her dismissal of this matter should be affirmed.